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Warpool Court

(Otherwise known as Bryn-y-garn and Dewiscourt)

SM75022481         OS 25” 1st edition XX.3      St. Davids
Cadw Register of Historic Parks and Gardens

Warpool Court is now an hotel. In “reception” is a history compiled by the owners containing many photographs, copies of documents etc. Much of what follows is taken from this.

The exposed site, no more than a few hundred metres from the cliff-top, was known as Pen-y-garn and some of the maps, including the OS 25” 1st edition,  name the house Bryn-y-garn. It later, as a private residence, became Warpool Court with a short spell as Dewiscourt.

The house was built in 1870 (CADW say circa 1865) by the Rev. A.J.M.Green. He was the head of the Cathedral School which had been temporarily housed for three years at Grove having outgrown its old buildings in the city. It was intended to house boarders (it has been described as a choir school), provide tuition and accommodate the headmaster and his family.

By 1884 at the latest it had been sold to Mr Charles Morgan of Alltygog, Carmarthen, commonly knpwn as “The squire”, and became a private house. 

....the Morgans resided chiefly at Bryn-y-garn, a large,bleak, villa on the hill above St. Davids where Mrs Morgan had erected, according to her wont, a vast number of greenhouses. (Herbert M Vaughan: South Wales Squires
Mr Morgan died soon after coming here. Mrs (Claudine Isabel Winifred) Morgan continued to live here for some time. She fell out with the cathedral authorities and became a Roman Catholic. Projecting into the walled garden from behind the coach-house she built a chapel and employed her own priest. She was noted for her extravagances and much given to building alterations when the fancy took her. In 1898 there was a ceremonial re-opening of the chapel. In 1899 she was bankrupt  (documents in the County Records Office show much re-mortgaging) and  sold the property to Mrs Ada Lansdowne Williams for £3,500. The chapel became (part of?) the gardener’s cottage. 

The family of Arthur Williams had an Irish connection, she being a Miller of Saleats and Slate in Scotland, and they have been described as coming from Denbighshire (or Anglesey) and/or from Aberystwyth. 

There is a sale notice in the County Recoords Office. Bryn-y-garn is described as a valuable and improving marine residential property....gardens, lawns, pleasure grounds, plantations, vineries, peach houses, conservatories, cottages and fields....in all 15 acres The auction was to be held at the Mariners Hotel in Haverfordwest on Saturday June 17th 1899. The enclosed map is from the OS 25” first edition.

The public lane from St Davids passes to the east side and ends at fields just beyond the site. A short fork to the west ends at the coastguard lookout station.There are no buildings marked along this side except for the walls of the garden.

The carriage drive went westwards from the crossways (it is an unsurfaced farm track today), turned south down the west side passing part of the shelter belt of trees to its west and then entered the gardens between gate pillars going SE to the turning area at the west end of the house. The gate pillars are clearly marked on the map and are described elsewhere as “tall” but they seem to have disappeared completely. The chapel and other building can be clearly seen projecting into the walled garden, eastwads from near the northern end of the west wall. The main glasshouse lies against the eastern half of the north wall. Trees are shown to the south of the walled garden.

The house is listed by CADW primarily for the ceramic tiles which adorn the walls of several rooms. Mrs Ada Williams appears to have lived a long time on the continent from which she is reported to have sent the tiles, for which she is famous, in packing cases to Minton for firing. There were local accounts of her son Basil despatching tiles to Minton from the St Davids post office; the same ones would be sent back and forth several times as the different colours would need separate firings. She was a lady of strong convictions and very concerned that the pedigrees of gentry families should be recorded “in stone” for perpetuity. She is said to have painted over 3000 tiles, each 8” square, of which there are several hundred in the house. Many display coats of arms and relate the antecedents of families to whom she was connected. They are beautifully done.

Did Mrs Williams change the name to Dewiscourt or to Warpool Court?

Mr and Mrs Williams had six children.The elder son Basil, who married Annie Ellen Hayes, the daughter of an English baronet, inherited Warpool Court on his mother’s death in 1927. He had been his mother’s favourite and together they seem to have developed the Italianate garden which survives to this day with its arches, paved arbour, sedilia and its marble statues. They  constructed a new carriage drive approaching the back (north side) of the house obliquely from the crossways to the larger turning area. It is not entirely clear what was there before their activities as gate-arches which are attributed to them have earlier dates on them.His are the scallop shells carved in sandstone which can be seen on the walls; they are said to be symbolic of pilgrimage. Also the coats of arms and the glazed terracotta dragon on the pinnacle of the “front” (south) entrance. He appears to have spent a large amount of money; the house was re-mortgaged several times and some fields sold off, and when he inherited it was owned mostly by the bank.

When the drive was re-routed the original entrance was walled off and a vista, a grass ride, was opened up towards the sea. Mrs Williams had aquired a number of fig trees, it is said, from Palestine, only one of which survives. It is to the outside of the SW entrance to the walled garden in the corner of the house.

In September 1927 the house was bought by Richard Llwellyn Lloyd of Pentyparc for £2,410 to help his brother-in-law out of his financial difficulties. Basil’s sister Beatrice, a very talented artist, it is said, like her mother, had married Mr Lloyd in St Davids cathedral in 1903. Their three daughters were Francis Grace Philipps who died age 18, Cecelia who married an army officer Jenkin and Elena Mary Beatrice Philipps who married Bertie Warren Davis of Trewarren. (see Pentyparc file). 

A sketch map with the conveyance is similar to the OS 25” second edition map showing the diagonal carriage drive. Most maps show a sort of avenue or, at least, a double row of trees, running due north from a point north of the house to the lane/former carriage drive; is this the basis of the “relict hedge” mentioned in the RCAMW database? 

The house was leased to various people, apparently on a yearly basis.

In his will of 30 Dec 1936 Richard Lloyd made Beatrice and their daughter Cecelia Margaret Elizabeth Philipps Lloyd his executors and trustees (he was said to have “cut off” Cecelia for her elopement but seems to have relented somewhat). In a codicil dated 28 Aug 1937 he appointed Christopher Michael Warren Davis of Trewarren to be trustee in place of Cecilia (another little disagreement?) On 17th April 1938 Richard Lloyd died. On 24th Feb 1939 probate was granted to Beatrice and CMW Davis. 

On 1st Dec 1939 Warpool Court was conveyed to Cecelia by the executors. The property consisted only of the drive and house with gardens. None of the fields or woodland to the west was now included. Mrs Cecelia Jenkin and her small daughter went to live there.

Evacuees were boarded there during the war which Mrs Jenkin remembers well.

1946  sold to Grey of the County Hotel, Haverfordwest for £3,000. He removed panels from walls and took them to the County. He had a tenant in Warpool Court.

The sale notice was for auction at the City Hall, St Davids on Friday 30th August 1946. It consisted of 2.93 acres. The map with the conveyance still shows the “avenue” across 718. The conveyance was from C.M.P.Jenkin the wife of Reginald Sackville Jenkin of Kittle Hill House, Bishopston in the county of Glamorgan, Major (retired) and her signature was witnessed by her mother and by Bertie Warren Davis (her uncle by marriage) of The Warren, St Ishmaels. Mr C.M.W.Davis’s signature by J.Mathias, gardener. A strip of land along the north side of the walled garden at the bottom of field 718a is specifically excluded from the sale.

OS 25” 2nd edition in County Records Office(They do have a 1st edition 6” only)

Sheet XX.3, surveyed 1887, revised 1906, published 1908 shows the new,diagonal drive, several glasshouses but still no road to the coast.

1953  purchased by Brian Green, the warden of St. Davids Youth Hostel, who housed orphans there. He is said to have compensated citizens when wronged by his charges and became known (in this cathedral city!) as Jesus Christ.

1955  bought by William Liens, a Llanelli engineer.

1958  purchased by Mr and Mrs Glyn Lloyd and Mrs Anthony as an hotel.

1985  purchased by the present owners, Mr and Mrs Peter Trier as an hotel.

The history in “reception” states that the Italian garden contains two marble statues - of The Muse and of Song, that when the walled garden was cleared there were remains of glasshouses and a fairly large cobbled (beach stones) area and that there were no signs of a potting shed, said to have been “a work of art”.  Were these the buildings which project into the garden on the maps? They seem to have disappeared and the earth is certainly very stoney hereabouts.

A building outside the NE corner is described in the CADW schedule together with the pumphouse/folly tower which stands to the south of the walled garden.

A brief description of the surrounds:

The house is approached by the narrow minor road which leaves the city next to the St. Non’s hotel, almost due south of the cathedral, leading to St. Non’s Convent on the clifftop.

The carriage drive, which goes obliquely but straight, to a point about 50 metres north of the house, enters the property between modest gate pillars (1) at the north east corner. There is a farm lane, the former carriage drive, going west from this crossways and a small entry to houses to the east.

There is an ash on each side just within the gateway. The drive rises gently between alternate sycamores and clipped privet bushes, behind which is a privet hedge on the left and a mixture of  privet, eleagnus and griselinia on the right-hand side. At the end of the straight the drive curves to the left as it levels out and becomes part of the large turning and parking area. To the right is a row of old hawthorn trees (is this the “relict hedge”?) The lawn to the right (north), which is really a separate field,with views over the city to the hills to the north and north-west, is level for some distance and then slopes steeply down towards the farm lane/former drive which is thus hidden. The effect is of a ha-ha making the fields continuous with the lawn. 

The drive was apparently constructed by the Williams’s in the early part of this century to replace the one which went westwards and round to the other side.

The portico of the house, the present entrance to the hotel, is rather dark and low. Very dark-coloured bricks (2) have been used to make three rather elaborate romanesque arches. These same, almost black, (described by CADW as black but in fact a variable and, close-to, rather attractive purple) bricks have been used in several parts of the garden. The hotel History  calls these “engineering bricks”.Above the doorway is a Greek motto in the stonework. It apparently means The stars are my roof, my lord, my life. There are scallop shells carved in sandstone insets (3) at various points in the facade and a brightly coloured coat of arms..

The whole building has been remodelled since the war; it is difficult  to imagine how it was (See the poor photograph) The ground floor has been extended eastwards and this end raised to balance the west end. The whole of the first and the second (attic) floor have been remodelled and modernised (4,5,6).

Travel westwards from the crossways along the original carriage drive. There is a hedgebank on the left. Approximately opposite the west end of the house is a pedestrian gateway with a wooden gate; beyond this is a low wall which bends round to the left.

This stone wall runs north to south along the western boundary with a public footpath following the line of the old carriageway through National Trust land to the outside. Where the first drive entered the stonework is higher, more meticulous with double castellated top and obviously more recent; this extends perhaps twnty or thirty metres. South of the level of the house, opposite the lower garden terrace, is an arched pedestrian entrance with elaborate (dark) brickwork and a date plaque 1902 to the outside. Just inside and northwards is a rockery; it is either a recent construction or re-construction. The stones are probably from the site - nothing special. The wall continues perhaps thirty metres and ends in a field; to the side is a gateway well blocked with a wooden gate supporting and older pair of rusting iron ones. The footpath continues to the right (ie westwards, away from Warpool). (7,8,9,10)

(Going back to the carriage entrance) A poor wall/hedgebank goes south along the public road to a cart-width gateway. Then there is a small range of outbuildings ending in the decorative square tower  mentioned above which abuts the walled garden. There are signs that the wall was once much lower, presumeably before the outbuildigs were built (11).The tower (12) has a short flight of stone steps from the inside to a raised floor level. There are brick arches and decorative features in this tower and in the adjoining range. Part of the high wall at the north end of the east wall and most of the southern half (13) has been rebuilt (very sympathetically) in recent times.

The walled garden of about one acre is square with quite high stone walls. CADW mention some black brick coping.  In the corner next to the tower-building the wall is capped with a short row of glazed earthenware ridge tiles with finials. There is evidence of a glasshouse here - white paint, fixing holes at the top of the wall and a line of large stones parallel with the wall on the ground. Perhaps some of the the greenhouses that Mrs Morgan was famous for were more free-standing, ephemeral structures? There are fruit trees, some older than others, in this north-east quadrant of the garden; noteable is a large gnarled pear.. Centrally is a prefabricated, modern gymnasium. There are three foot-entrance arches all using the dark bricks but each of a different design. One is near the NW corner on the north wall  one is near the SW corner on the west wall and the third is near the eastern end of the south wall 

(15,16,17). There is a modern tennis court in the area to the north of the walled garden (field 718a? bought back?).

Southwards along the public road a stone wall continues past the walled garden. There remain signs of gate pillars (?) and some iron railing inserted into the wall allows one to look in - an unusual feature. A notice in stone informs one that this is the private property of the Warpool estate (18). About 25m south of the walled, just within the boundary wall, but detached from it, ls the  stone tower mentioned above.. It is a limestone pumphouse connected to the sewerage system and described as a folly. There is decoative brickwork and arches (`19). The remains of a pump are still more or less in situ. There is a small wood here; near the tower is at least one sweet chestnut, stunted, as are all the others, by the wind. From the distant south the woodland has a typical windswept profile with lower trees to the west getting gradually higher towards the east. 

But all the trees hereabouts are rather stunted.

Between the tower and the formal gardens is the somewhat unbeautiful covered swimming pool. The latter is on the level of the lower terrace, a lawn bounded by lines of dark-green, trimmed, privet hedges (20), at the back of which are stone and brick arches retaining the upper terrace (21). At intervals there are glazed earthenware urns of a buff/orange colour (24) and at the east end, on a plinth, is a (home-made?) sundial (25) with a short flight of steps leading down towards the SW entrance to the walled garden. There is a wide flight of stone steps from the upper terrace lawn to the lower terrace lawn (23a). The lower terrace has two weathered marble statues - THE MUSIC (22) and THE SONG (22a) - these words engraved on the bases - on somewhat massive dressed limestone plinths. At the far (western) end is the stone and brick arbour with a stone seat and paved in stone.

The lawn continues southward intended to appear to merge with the fields above the cliffs, although there is nowadays a wire fence marking the boundary with a privet hedge inside it..

Of the features listed in the RCAMW database the carriage drive (new or second?), lawns, terrace and walled garden survive. There are minimal remains of a greenhouse (records speak of several), relict hedges are not obvious unless the short row of hawthorns is one and GH is not sure what is meant by the avenue. The concrete and steel base of the flagstaff still exists in the field below the house.and there are many early 20th century features existant as mentioned above and as photographed.

Summary of surviving and existing plants:

Carriage drive:

Ash trees - one on each side of drive a little way inside entrance.

Sycamores then flank the drive. They are not very tall (but cf drve at Brownslate where they are also somewhat wind-stunted) but undoubtedly 80 - 100 yrs as indicated by the lichen growth on trunks and branches,

Clipped bushes of dark-leaved privet alternate with the sycamores and there is a hedge along the LHS behind the trees.

There has been a (later?) attempt to grow a mixed hedge at the RHS wqith some Eleagnus and Griselinia evident.

There is a short length of overgrown hawthorn on the RHS (NW) as the drive turns into the parking area in front of the house.

A group of trees forms part of the blocking-off of the original entrance.

Walled garden:

Fruit trees of varying size and age in the NE quadrant, including one large, gnarled pear.

Quince against the north wall, about midway.

Fig tree with fruit in the corner outside the SW gate, together with several large, unidentified, evergreen shrubs.

South of the walled garden:

Copse of mixed trees including at least one sweet chestnut which doesn’t really like it here. Also Aucuba, hydrangea and snowberry.

Terraced (Italianate) garden:

Clipped dark green privet hedging.

The “drive” southwards with views to the sea (as marked on the second edition maps) does not really exist. The field to the south is farmed; it was probably sold off earlir in this century. There is a fairly high privet hedge across the southern boundary which obstructs the view from ground level but there is a spectacular view from the house, if not along a drive.

 The “avenue” northwards across enclosure 718, marked on the second edition maps, no longer exits. There is a grassed area with fine views over St Davids to the outcrops beyond. The former carriage drive is hidden below. 

Documents in file:

Text document

Six colour photographs of maps

Listings of Hotel, Garden Terrace and Archway and the Walled Garden with Tower

Three colour photographs of 1899 sale brochure

OS 25” 1st edition map

Enlargement of OS 1st edition map with attached notes re colouring and initials

Map from sale brochure 1899

OS 25” second edition c1910 (two copies)

54 colour photographs of the demsne

17 colour photographs of the Italianate garden

Hotel brochure

Colour photograph of Westfield College on the approach road

Three colour photographs of decorative tiles

Two colour photographs of wall tablets

Photocopy extract of Squres of South Wales by Herbert Vaughan

